087 FIX sid J. White

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

DEC 24 1992

By-**Chief Deputy Clerk**

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 80,663

ROBERT GARNER JETT,

Respondent.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. TURNER

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT

	REVIEW. TRIAL CO VICTIM'S S PROFESSION	EVEN IF URT'S RUI TATEMENTS ALS WERE	PRESERVED PRESERVED, LING THAT TO MENTAL HE PRIVILEGED	THE TWO ALTH DID
			UPON JE ATUTORY RIGH	TT'S TS5
CONCLUSION				
CERTIFICATE OF	SERVICE			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES:

·
Beebe v. Richardson, 156 Fla. 559, 23 So. 2d 718 (1945)12
Carson v. Jackson, 466 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985)15
<u>Chapman v. California</u> , 386 U.S. 18 (1967)9
Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974)17, 19
Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986)9, 19
E.H. v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 443 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984)10
E.H. v. Dept. of HRS, 443 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984)15
Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control District, 604 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1992)12
<u>Griffis v. State,</u> 356 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1978)12
<u>Jett v. State</u> , 17 F.L.W. at 2220 (Fla. 5th DCA Sept. 25, 1992)11, 16
<u>Jones v. State</u> , Case No. 78,160, slip opinion, p. 6 (Fla. December 17, 1992)9
Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990)6
<pre>Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39 (1987)9, 17</pre>
<u>Ray v. State</u> , 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981)9
<u>Seckington v. State</u> , 424 So.2d 194 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)20
<u>Shaktman v. State</u> , 553 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1989)11

<u>State v. DiGuilio</u> , 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1987)9, 19
<u>State v. Webb</u> , 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981)13
<u>Steinhorst v. State</u> , 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982)6
<u>T.W.</u> , 551 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 1989)11
<u>Tillman v. State</u> , 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985)6, 9
<u>Van Pelt v. Hilliard</u> , 75 Fla. 792, 78 So. 693 (1918)12
OTHER AUTHORITIES:
Art. I, § 23, Fla. Const11
<pre>§ 90.503, Fla. Stat. (1987)</pre>

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is before the court on questions certified to be of great public importance concerning the applicability of a statutory waiver of the evidentiary privilege between the professional and patient in a case involving child abuse and neglect. §415.512 Fla. Stat. (1989). The fifth district reversed and remanded for a new trial in a sharply divided en banc decision and the state seeks review. The certified questions are:

> SECTION 415.512 ABROGATE THE 1. DOES PSYCHOTHERAPIST-CLIENT PRIVILEGE FOR COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN THE THERAPIST AND CHILD IN ALL SEXUAL BATTERY CASES WITHOUT REGARD TO WHETHER OR NOT THE ALLEGED BATTERER PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE CHILD'S IS A WELFARE AS DEFINED BY SECTIONS 415.503(3) and (11)7.(2), OR

> DOES THE ABROGATION OF THE PRIVILEGE ONLY 2. APPLY TO CASES INVOLVING "PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR A CHILD'S WELFARE" AS DEFINED BY SECTIONS 415.503(3) AND (11), AND IF SO LIMITED TO SUCH PERSONS, IS THE PRIVILEGE ABROGATED IN ALL SEXUAL BATTERY CASES SUCH AS RAPE AND LEWD ASSAULT WHICH INVOLVES SUCH PERSONS AS WITHOUT REGARD TO WHETHER THE BATTERERS JUDICIAL PROCEEDING RELATES TO CHILD ABUSE OR NEGLECT?

Jett was convicted of two counts of capital sexual battery and two counts of lewd and lascivious assault. (R 1001-1005) §§ 794.011(2); 800.04(1), Fla. Stats. (1987). He was sentenced to two concurrent life terms. (R 1040-1045)¹

¹ Certain portions of the trial testimony were transcribed out of order for use in a post-trial motion hearing. Chronologically, the testimony was adduced at trial as follows: record pages 1-174; 784-813; 174-336; 814-837; 336-349; 837-843; 349-489.

The victims in this case are Jett's nieces, ages 7, 8 and 10 at the time of the offenses. In May, 1988, Jett stayed in his sister's home for five days immediately after moving to Florida. (R 135-137) Jett babysat the three girls during that time. (R 136) The girls' mother observed inappropriate behavior, and upon inquiry, the girls gave explicit descriptions of sexual activity with Jett which supports the crimes charged. (R 142-146; 163; 169-171; 796-801) The girls' testimony corroborated each other. (R 163-171; 796-801) Specifically, they testified that Jett performed cunnilingus on each girl in the other's presence.

A timely notice of appeal was filed and the public defender was appointed to represent Jett. Several claims were presented in the briefs; all save one were determined to be meritless. Oral argument was entertained on December 3, 1990.

On June 13, 1991, the panel issued its first decision in this case, affirming Jett's convictions and sentences. Upon timely motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc filed on Jett's behalf, the panel withdrew its prior opinion and substituted another in its place on October 31, 1991. The state then moved for rehearing and rehearing en banc. The en banc motion was granted and the final decision was issued on September 25, 1992. (See petitioner's appendix) Jett v. State, 17 F.L.W. 2219 (Fla. 5th DCA September 25, 1992) Judge Harris wrote the majority decision, joined by Judges Dauksch, Cobb and Peterson. Judge Cowart concurred with a special opinion. Judges Sharp, Griffin, Goshorn and Diamantis dissented. All judges agreed that the certified questions posed by Judge Sharp "...should be certified to the supreme court." Id.

- 2 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The en banc decision of the district court below fails to address the state's claim that the issue presented herein was never presented in any manner to the trial court, and as such, was not preserved for appellate review. At no time did the defense suggest to the trial court that any privilege was abrogated by section 415.512, Florida Statutes (1987). It is a basic premise of appellate law that objections not made to the trial court cannot form the basis for appellate review.

Even if preserved, the sharply divided en banc decision dissent by four judges legislative intent. The ignores demonstrates that the statute is unclear, and so legislative intent must be consulted to correctly interpret the statute. Even if the statute is unambiguous, the interpretation given the statute by the district court below fails to follow evident legislative intent, and indeed, acknowledges that the opposing view is "reasonable and practical". The statute at issue cannot be read in isolation, but must be read as part of a statutory scheme designed to prevent harm to a child who is a victim of By interpreting the statute to abrogate the privilege to abuse. report, but as inapplicable to the ongoing treatment after disclosure of the abuse, the legislative intent is satisified. By interpreting the abrogation of the privilege as applying to all treatment, even long after disclosure, the legislative intent to protect child victims is thwarted and the children are in fact The children's privacy rights are ignored for no good harmed. Nothing in the statute or the constitution gives Jett reason.

- 3 -

the right to review the otherwise confidential communications between his child victims and their treating psychotherapists as they try to recover from the psychological harm caused by Jett's abuse.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE THIS IS NOT PRESERVED FOR REVIEW. EVEN ΤF PRESERVED, THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT TWO VICTIM'S STATEMENTS TO MENTAL HEALTH PROFESSIONALS WERE PRIVILEGED DID NOT INFRINGE UPON JETT'S CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY RIGHTS.

The psychotherapist-patient privilege, (invoked in this case by the children's mother on their behalf), is set forth in Florida's Evidence Code, section 90.503(2), Florida Statutes

(1989). It provides in part:

A patient has a privilege to refuse to disclose, and to prevent any other person from disclosing, confidential communications or records made for the purpose of diagnosis treatment of his mental or or emotional condition... between himself and his psychotherapist, who or persons are participating in the diagnosis or treatment under the direction of the psychotherapist. This privilege includes any diagnosis made, and advice given by the psychotherapist in the course of that relationship.

Jett argues that this privilege is abrogated in this case by section 415.512, Florida Statutes (1987). This section provides:

415.512 Abrogation of privileged communications in cases involving child abuse or neglect.--

The privileged quality of communication between husband and wife and between any professional person and his patient or client, and any other privileged communication except that between attorney and client or the privilege provided in s. 90.505, as such communication relates both to the competency of the witness and to the exclusion of confidential communications, shall not apply to any situation involving known or suspected child abuse or neglect and shall not constitute grounds for failure to report as required by s. 415.504, failure to cooperate with the department in its activities pursuant to ss. 415.502-415.514, or failure to give evidence in any judicial proceeding relating to child abuse or neglect. (emphasis added)

Jett contends that the trial court improperly found that statements made by T.F. and C.F. to Doctor Media and Ms. Roberts were privileged under section 90.503, Florida Statutes, (1987)² Specifically, he claimed below that this ruling deprived him of his "...constitutional rights to a fair trial and meaningful cross-examination of his accusers." (IB 21) He contended that in this instance, "The prejudice cannot be ascertained retroactively." (IB 21) The state disagrees for several reasons.

A. ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED

The claim raised on appeal was not presented to the trial court and as such, is not preserved for appellate review. At no time did the defense claim at trial as they do on appeal that the privilege under section 90.503 is abrogated by section 415.512, Florida Statute (1987). It is a basic principle of appellate law that in order for a claim to be cognizable on appeal, the objection on the same specific grounds that are argued on appeal must have been presented to the trial court. <u>Steinhorst v.</u> <u>State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990). It is not enough that an objection was made on different grounds; the new issue is not preserved for appellate review. Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985)

- 6 -

² The state suggests that section 90.5035, Florida Statutes, (1987) also renders these statements privileged.

The written motion below requested the court to permit discovery of the medical records of the treatment of T.F. and C.F. by Dr. Medea Woods and Carol Roberts, or alternatively, to preclude their testimony. (R 996-997) Hearings on this motion were conducted February 24 and 28, 1990. (R 503-589, 1007) The objections below were that the state failed to lay a proper predicate that these persons were licensed, that the statements were not made for the purpose of diagnosing a mental or emotional condition, and other predicates to the applicability of the privilege had not been satisfied. (R 543-549, 553, 556-558, 571, 575-576) For example, quoting from the last record reference, counsel stated, "I would request that the Court rule that the psychotherapist privilege under 90.503 has not been established in that a predicate under all the various definitions and conditions that fall within that particular rule of evidence have not been established by competent substantial evidence at this In response to this specific objection, the court hearing." noted that the state had established that Woods was licensed and Roberts was acting under the direction of someone who was licensed and that they were engaged primarily in the diagnosis and treatment of emotional or mental disorders. (R 576) He further held that the witnesses had described the children as patients with the definition of the statute. (R 576) The trial court correctly ruled upon the argument presented below.

In response to the court's overruling his objection, the defense contended that his due process rights were violated because the privilege had been asserted for two of the victims,

- 7 -

but waived as to the third victim. (R 582-584) Since this was a multi-count information and since the state provided notice that similar fact evidence, rendering it would use severance pointless, the defense objected. This argument was premised on the theory that the privilege was "partially waived". The state responded that each of the children had been counseled individually, and waiver of one child's privilege did not constitute a partial waiver of the other children's rights. (R The court then stated that he could not rule on the motion 585) at that point. (R 585-586) Defense counsel persisted, stating that he wanted to depose the doctor before trial, and the court responded, "I will deny your motion for purposes of discovery. You can raise it again either at trial or in a motion for new trial if you need to." (R 586) At trial, Roberts did not testify; Woods was called as a state witness to relate hearsay statements from E.F., and to describe generally delay in disclosure of sexual abuse, or post-traumatic syndrome. (R 205-245) After much discussion as to the exact nature of Woods' expertise, the state essentially withdrew this witness.

The state suggests that the trial court was never presented with the specific objection raised on appeal, that the privilege was abrogated by section 415.512, Florida Statutes (1987). Therefore, this claim is not preserved for review.

As recently as last week, this court held that "(A)n appellate court will not reverse int he absence of an objection unless the comment is so prejudicial as to be fundamental error." Jones v. State, Case No. 78,160, slip opinion, p. 6 (Fla.

- 8 -

December 17, 1992). <u>See also, Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985).

A specific, timely objection was necessary to preserve this issue for review, and without presenting the claim to the trial court, it was waived. This error is not fundamental error, which can never be harmless. See, State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1987); Chapman'v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967). If it is not fundamental error, it is either plain error or constitutional error, both of which can be waived by failure to make a specific, timely objection. Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981). Alleged discovery violations are not fundamental error. The right of confrontation is a trial right and does not embody a constitutional right to pretrial discovery for preparation of cross-examination. Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39 (1987). Even if viewed as a violation of the right to confrontation at trial (which the state does not concede), the error can still be harmless. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986). Therefore, an objection was necessary to preserve this error for appellate review. Absent a specific objection, the issue has been waived.

The state contended from the first time this issue was raised that it was not preserved, and maintained that position throughout. The district court did not address the argument that no objection was made below to preserve this novel claim. The state respectfully requests this court to find the merits were reached in error as the claim was never presented to the trial court to preserve the issue for appellate review.

- 9 -

B. SECTION 415.512 DOES NOT APPLY IN THIS CASE

Even if preserved, no error is presented. Section 415.512 applies only to proceedings pursuant to chapter 39, child neglect, or prosecutions pursuant to section 827.07(8), Florida Statutes (1989). In re E.H. v. Department of Health and <u>Rehabilitative Services</u>, 443 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

Judge Sharp would interpret the statute to limit the abrogation of the privilege to those cases involving "child abuse or neglect".

"The goal of getting child abuse and neglect cases promptly reported and prosecuted is served by waiving the traditional privilege at issue in this case (i.e., the psychotherapist privilege). But this in not a child abuse/neglect case or proceeding. Jett was charged and brought to trial for capital sexual battery and lewd and lascivious assault. The abrogation of the psychotherapist privilege provided for in chapter 415 for child abuse and neglect cases is not expressly applicable to cirminal prosecutions for sexual battery and lewd assault. It only applies to proceedings 'relating to child abuse \mathbf{or} neglect.³

"Chapter 415.503(3) defines child abuse as 'harm or threatening harm to a child's physical or mental health or welfare by the acts or omissions of the parent or other persons responsible for the child's welfare.' Child abuse may be charged

³ §415.512, Fla. Stat. (1989)

in criminal cases⁴ or it may be a relevant issue in dependency or termination of parental rights case.⁵ However, simply because sexual battery may form the basis for a child abuse charge does not convert all sexual battery cases involving children into child abuse cases.⁶ If so construed, a close relative who rapes a child will have the benefit of requiring disclosure of the child's statements to his or her psychotherapist, but a stranger who rapes a child under similar circumstances will have no such right. Such an anomalous and unequal application of the law should be avoided." <u>Jett v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. at 2220.(J. Sharp, concurring in part and dissenting in part.)(footnotes in the original)

Another reason why the abrogation of the privilege is inapplicable in this case is because to do so would violate the children's right to privacy under the Constitution of Florida. Art. I, § 23, Fla. Const. This provision has been interpreted in a variety of situations, although admittedly not in the exact context advanced herein. <u>See, e.g. In Re T.W.</u>, 551 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 1989); <u>Shaktman v. State</u>, 553 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1989). The state suggests that interpreting section 415.512 in the manner suggested by the majority below subverts not only the legislative

⁴ §§382.703; 827.04; 827.05, Fla. Stat. (1989)

⁵ § 39.40-39.409; §§ 39.46-39.468, Fla. Stat. (1989)

⁶ Sexual battery clearly may be the basis for a child abuse charge, but all sexual battery prosecutions involving child victims do not become child abuse cases within the context of chapter 415, or the other statutes cited above.

intent of the statutory scheme as argued below, but also is a violation of the children's right to privacy.

C. LEGISLATIVE INTENT IS SUBVERTED BY THE MAJORITY DECISION

Even if the statute is clear and unambiguous as the majority decision contends, it subverts the clear intent of the statute. Although the state agrees that unambiguous statutes must be given their plain meaning, the dissent of four judges below demonstrates that the statute is not clear. Reasonably wellinformed judges were capable of understanding two different interpretations of the statute, and hence, it is ambiguous.

Even if unambiguous, Judges Griffin and Diamantis correctly point out that legislative intent must be given effect even though it may contradict the strict letter of the statute "if, from a view of the whole law, or from other laws in pari materia the evident intent is different from the literal import of the terms employed to express it in a particular part of the law, that intent should prevail, for that, in fact is the will of the Legislature." Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control District, 604 So.2d 452, 454 (Fla. 1992), quoting Van Pelt v. Hilliard, 75 Fla. 792, 798-799, 78 So. 693, 694-695 (1918). This court held in Griffis v. State, 356 So.2d 297, 299 (Fla. 1978) that "where the context of a statute taken literally conflicts with a plain legislative intent clearly discernible, the context must yield to the legislative purpose, for otherwise the intent of the lawmakers would be defeated." Id., quoting Beebe v. Richardson, 156 Fla. 559, 23 So. 2d 718, 719 (1945). Section 415.512 cannot be read in isolation from the statutory scheme of which it is a part. <u>State v. Webb</u>, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981). This statute is one of several statutory provisions enacted to provide "comprehensive protective services for abused or neglected children." Ch. 79-203 Laws of Fla.

The dissenting opinions find that the express legislative intent is to require reporting of suspected child abuse. Since, as here, the child abuse had been reported before the time that the children were referred to the psychiatrist for treatment, the statute's goal has been achieved.

> salutary purpose of the statutory [T]he scheme has been accomplished and thus, there no longer exists any compelling public policy reason or necessity for abrogating the privilege between the psychologists and their patients....The legislature obviously did not to negatively impact the intend child's psychological evaluation and treatment by requiring unlimited disclosure of confidential communications involving personally sensitive and traumatic experiences when there is absolutely no need to do so. The reasonable and evident legislative intent was to abrogate the privilege to the extent necessary to accomplish the legislative policy of insuring that child abuse be reported. Jett v. State, 17 F.L.W. at 2222, (J. Diamantis, dissenting)

Judge Griffin's interpretation of the Legislature's intent is

as follows:

"The legislative intent in enacting 415.502-415.514 is set forth in section 415.502:

The intent of ss. 415.514 is to provide for comprehensive protective services for abused or neglected children found in the state by requiring that reports of each abused or neglected child be made to

the Department of Health andRehabilitative Services in an effort to prevent other harm to the child or any other children living in the home and to preserve the family life of the parents and children, to the extent maximum possible, by enhancing the parental capacity for adequate child care.

Within the statutory scheme, the function of section 415.511 and 415.512 is to overcome the twin legal excuses for failing to report suspected child abuse: exposure to civil liability and the obligation of confidentiality. A broad construction of this confidentiality waiver to permit a criminal defendant accused of sexual battery of a child to discover the child's communications with his or her treating psychiatrist or psychologist could have no conceivable child-protective function and may very well be damaging to the child's treatment and recovery.

"I am further convinced that the legislature never intended this waiver to extend beyond the specific object of the legislation--the reporting of known or suspected child abuse. The legislative intent is plain: 'to provide for comprehensive protective services for abused or neglected children found inthis state by requiring that reports be made to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services.' This statute overrides the privileges otherwise available under Florida law, but only (as the statute says) as to any situation involving known or suspected child abuse, including reporting, cooperation with HRS in carrying out its duties of documentation and investigation of such abuse reports, and the giving of evidence in any judicial proceeding arising out of the reporting of known or suspected abuse.

- 14 -

"I concede that two other cases which have considered this confidentiality waiver have (apparently) not perceived the waiver to be this limited, <u>Carson v. Jackson</u>, 466 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); <u>E.H. v. Dept. of HRS</u>, 443 So.2d 1083, 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), but there is no suggestion this interpretation was directly raised in those cases. In fact, in <u>Carson</u>, (then) Judge Barkett observed:

> legislature, passing [T]he in weighed 415.512, the ection encouraging desirability of treatment for child abusers against the desirability of discovering them and decided that the latter was more important than the former. (emphasis added).

Carson, 466 So.2d at 1191. Anyone who hears of or suspects child abuse is obligated under this statutory scheme to report it. This includes physicians or psychiatrists, even if they learn of it while treating the abuser or the abused child. No privilege can interfere with the duty to report abuse except the privilege to communicate with one's lawyer or clergy. But this statute was not intended to expose anyone, whether victim or abuser, to discovery of communicaitons with their treating ongoing psychiatrist after disclosure of the abuse. Such a result not only would be manifestly unfair to victims, as in this case, but it is also not fair to the abuser who seeks treatment for his or her mental disorder. Post-discovery treatment would seem impossible when any communication to a treating psychiatrist would be admissible in evidence against the patient in any civil, criminal or other proceeding. It is inconceivable that a health

care professional could ethically accept communications from his or her patient without first disclosing that any such communications would be available as evidence against them in any civil or criminal case. The purpose of the section 415.512 statute has been met once the abuse has been discovered and I do not suggest the statute applies only to the first reported. person to report abuse; several reports by several persons may be involved. However, after the abuse is known to HRS the abuser and the abused can seek treatment without interference from this statute.

"If the two professionals whose testimony is in issue in this case had reported the abuse, I would agree with the majority that the broad language of the statute abrogates the privilege, even in favor of the alleged abuser. In the present case, however, the children were referred to these psychologists for treatment after the children had disclosed the abuse to their mother and she had reported it to HRS. In my view, this statutory abrogation of privileges in order to require the reporting of abuse has no application at all to these children's communications with their treating psychologist." <u>Jett v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. at 2221. (J. Griffin, dissenting).

The majority decision agreed that Judge Griffin's statute interpretation of the was "both reasonable and practical." Jett v. State, 17 F.L.W. at 2219. This interpretation "reasonably balances the public policy of requiring child abuse or neglect to be reported with the policy of protecting hte child's right to have effective treatment after

- 16 -

having victimized and having suffered a very traumatic experience with long-lasting effects." <u>Jett v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. at 2222 (J. Diamantis, dissenting)

D. NO CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATION HAS BEEN ESTABLISHED BY JETT

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