## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE

JAN 8 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Petitioner,

Vs.

CASE NO. 80,663

ROBERT GARNER JETT,

Appellant/Respondent.

ON QUESTIONS CERTIFIED TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar No. 0353973
112-A Orange Avenue,
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

#

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State caused this problem by preventing Jett's attorney from taking the deposition of two workers employed by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (HRS) who talked with the three children and the children's mother about alleged acts of sexual abuse committed by Jett. There is no statutory psychotherapist/patient privilege in cases involving known or suspected child abuse or neglect because the statute which creates the confidentiality in the communications between psychotherapist and patient has been expressly abrogated by the Legislature in cases of known or suspected child abuse or neglect. The statute is clear and its expressly stated purpose is to abrogate the confidentiality of communications concerning known or suspected incidents of child abuse or neglect.

It is not the responsibility of a court to determine whether the decision to totally abrogate such communications is wise or unwise. Because the statute does not produce an absurd result when it is applied, it must be enforced as written because the Legislature is assumed to know the clear meaning of the words it uses. The <u>en banc</u> decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal should be affirmed. The first certified question should be answered in the affirmative. The second should be answered in the negative.

#### ISSUE

WHETHER THE PSYCHOTHERAPIST/PATIENT PRIVILEGE SET FORTH IN SECTION 90.503(2) IS ABROGATED BY SECTION 415.512 FLORIDA STATUTES IN CASES OF KNOWN OR SUSPECTED CHILD ABUSE OR NEGLECT?

The State's "lack of preservation argument" is without merit. It was not a defense objection which produced this error. Instead, error was caused by the State's argument that a statutory privilege forbade disclosure of the testimony of HRS workers who talked with children and their mother about alleged acts of sexual abuse. The State contends that the error it caused by denying Jett discovery and use of the information contained in those discussions for his defense was harmless error under federal precedent, citing Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39 (1987) and Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986). (State's Brief at p. 9).

Florida's discovery rights are vastly different from those afforded by the federal constitution. The State cannot show that denying Jett the content of the statements between the HRS counselors, the alleged victims and the children's mother, which was done at the State's instance, did not contribute to Jett's convictions. The denial of that information is a denial of discovery. A discovery violation is not subject to harmless error analysis on appeal. See Brown v. State, 515 So.2d 211 (Fla.1987); Smith v. State, 500 So.2d 125 (Fla.1986); and, Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla.1971). Even assuming that a harmless error analysis is appropriate is appropriately

applied in the context of a discovery violation, reversal is required because intelligent review of the issue cannot be conducted in the absence of the content of the statements between the counselors, the alleged victims and the children's mother. The fact that evidence was produced showing that the children at first denied any impropriety does not conclusively establish that the verdicts would not have been different had Jett been able to show the content of the discussions between the state counsellors and the children's mother.

Bad facts make bad law. A court must refrain from creating substantive legislation when faced with bad facts. The responsibility of enacting laws belongs to the legislative branch of government. A court should not concern itself with the wisdom of an enactment and is instead required to construe the statute in the form enacted. Blount v. State, 102 Fla. 1100, 138 So. 2 (1931). The legislative intent, which is the primary factor of importance in construing statutes, must be determined primarily from the language of the statute. S.R.G. Corp. v. Department of Revenue, 365 So.2d 687 (1978). If the intent of the legislature is clear, it is the court's duty to give effect to that intent. Englewood Water District v. Tate, 334 So.2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976).

It is apparent that the State and the dissenting judges of the Fifth District Court of Appeal disagree with the wisdom of the statute and they seek to avoid applying it as written based on the forced perception of a legislative intent to restrict the statute in the situation here presented. However, as did the Fifth District Court of Appeal, this Court should refrain from creating legislation and simply apply the law as written because to do so does not produce an absurd or unconstitutional result. The legislature is assumed to know the meaning of words and to have expressed its intent by the words found in a statute. Thayer v. State, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla.1976).

This statute does not produce an unjust result when it is applied as written. Instead, it promotes a full determination of the facts concerning allegations of child abuse or neglect. All agree that the psychotherapist/patient privilege is expressly abrogated by operation of Section 415.512 in cases involving child abuse or neglect. Judge Sharp takes the position that a case involving capital sexual battery is not a case involving child abuse or neglect, and the other dissenting judges would write language into Section 415.512 so that the abrogated psychotherapist/patient privilege again becomes viable once the alleged child abuse or neglect has been sufficiently reported. This creates an impossible standard to objectively apply and otherwise completely loses sight of the premise that reports of abuse or neglect might be mistaken, false or erroneous. respectfully submitted that it is for the Florida Legislature to decide whether a child is best protected by affording a statutory privilege to communications following reports of child abuse or neglect, or whether children are best protected by totally abrogating that statutory privilege.

The Florida Legislature, by enacting Section 415.512, Florida Statutes (1987), chose to "abrogate" all privileged communications in cases involving child abuse or neglect except the attorney/client privilege and the clergy privilege. The reason that the attorney/client and clergy privileges could not be abrogated was because to do so would run afoul of the First and Sixth Amendments to the United States Constitution. There are no other exceptions that preclude abrogating the privilege of confidentiality to those types communications.

The word "abrogate" is commonly understood. It means "to abolish by authoritative, official, or formal action: ANNUL, REPEAL; to put an end to: do away with: set aside." Webster's Third New International Dictionary, p.6 (1981). Section 415.512 does not state that, once reported, the statutory privileges it expressly abolished is reinstated. The omission of such language does not produce an absurd result. The Florida Legislature has determined that full disclosure of all information involving an allegation of known or suspected child abuse or neglect serves to protect the rights of the children, and that determination is within the province of the legislature to make.

At what point, under the State's and the dissenting judges' view, does the statutory privilege re-attach after it has been initially abrogated? Judge Griffin believes the statute which abrogates the confidentiality of communications in cases of known or suspected child abuse or neglect "is not intended to expose anyone, whether victim or abuser, to ongoing discovery of

communications with their treating psychiatrist after disclosure of the abuse." <u>Jett</u>, 17 FLW at D2222. What will happen, though, if additional relevant information comes to light during therapy sessions occurring after the initial reports are made? Perhaps such counseling will reveal other abuse, that abuse was committed by an additional person, or that abuse has been committed on other children by other people. There could be an unequivocal recantation by the alleged victim that any acts of abuse really occurred and that he or she was simply mad or doing as had been ordered by a different parent or guardian. Did the legislature intend that such matters be privileged simply because a report has been made to HRS?

How is the treating psychotherapist to know just what acts of known or suspected child abuse or neglect have and been previously reported? The statutorily conferred, privileged nature of psychotherapist/patient communications is abrogated in cases of known or suspected child abuse or neglect, and those who perpetrate such acts and realize that they need psychological help will refrain from getting the needed counseling because what the perpetrator tells the psychotherapist must, by operation of Chapter 415, be reported to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services.

Contrary to Judge Griffin's concern, <u>Jett</u>, 17 FLW at 2222, it is very conceivable that health care professionals accept communications from their patients without first telling them that whatever they say concerning child abuse or neglect

will be reported to HRS. The legislature has determined that the benefit of such reports outweighs the detriment of preventing those who abuse children from seeking help lest they be arrested and incarcerated for child sexual abuse. This result also seems not to adequately protect children, but the legislature has weighed the competing interests and made its determination. It is unwise and unnecessary for this Court to create substantive legislation. The responsibility of a court is to enforce the law unless it produces an absurd or unconstitutional result.

Certainly, every responsible person seeks to protect children. There are, however, competing views on how that can best be accomplished. The Florida Legislature has determined that, to protect children, it is necessary to "abrogate" all privileged communications in cases involving known or suspected child abuse or neglect, with the sole exceptions being the attorney/client privilege and the clergy privilege. The language of that statute is not unclear. The privileged nature of the communications between psychotherapist and patient is statutorily conferred. What the legislature gives, it can surely take away. For the foregoing reasons, the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the argument and authority previously set forth, Respondent respectfully asks that the en banc decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal be affirmed. question certified to be of great public importance should be answered affirmatively because Section 415.512 does not contain language limiting it situations where the alleged abuser is a person responsible for the child's welfare. The second question certified to be of great public importance should be answered in the negative because Section 415.512 abrogates the psychotherapist/patient privilege in all instances of known or suspected child abuse or neglect by any person.